2017

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. David Bryce Jones, Defendant/ Appellant : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(e).

INTRODUCTION

David O. Jones (“David”) and his son, David Bryce Jones (“Bryce”), always had a close relationship, and they formed multiple businesses together over the years. Bryce wanted nothing more than for those businesses to be profitable for his father. Unfortunately, their most recent venture—a restaurant—was not successful, despite Bryce working full time to make it work while also caring for his father. While Bryce worked to open the restaurant, David became unable to care for himself, so Bryce moved him to an assisted living facility. During that time, following his father’s wishes and an assurance from the assisted living facility that he could defer payments, Bryce took out loans from David to try to

salvage the business. In doing so, he did not knowingly misuse his father's assets or put his father at risk.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance of counsel by not objecting to improper expert testimony by lay witnesses, and not objecting to improper other acts evidence, and in stipulating to erroneous jury instructions,?

Standard of Review. Ineffective assistance of counsel is a question of law. *See, e.g., State v. Clark*, 2004 UT 25, ¶ 6, 89 P.3d 162. To the extent any of these issues were not invited error, they may also be reviewed for plain error.

Preservation. Ineffective assistance of counsel may be raised for the first time on appeal.

2. Is the exploitation of a vulnerable adult statute unconstitutionally vague?

Standard of Review. "A statute's constitutionality is a question of law" reviewed "for correctness, giving no deference to the district court." *State v. Tulley*, 2018 UT 35, ¶ 29, 870 Utah Adv. Rep. 29.

Preservation. This issue was preserved by written and oral argument. R174-184, R282-300, R304-311, R950-960.

3. Did the trial court err in finding sufficient evidence to send the case to the jury?

Standard of Review. The Court gives deference to the jury's verdict and will reverse for insufficient evidence only if it determines that "reasonable minds

could not have reached the verdict.” *State v. Workman*, 2005 UT 66, ¶ 29, 122 P.3d 639 (quoting *State v. Widdison*, 2001 UT 60, P 74, 28 P.3d 1278).

Preservation. This issue was preserved at R753, 957-58. To the extent that it was not preserved, the issue may be reviewed for ineffective assistance of counsel and plain error. *See, e.g., State v. Holgate*, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 17, 10 P.3d 346.

4. Was it ineffective assistance of counsel to not seek to merge Bryce’s convictions where he was convicted of two crimes for just one act?

Standard of Review. “If trial counsel fails to request the consolidation of charges under the merger doctrine, and consolidation would be in order, trial counsel has failed to provide effective assistance of counsel.” *State v. Perez-Avila*, 2006 UT App 71, ¶ 9, 131 P.3d 864.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

The following statutes and rules are reproduced in Addendum A:

Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-402;
Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-111;
Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-513;¹
Utah R. Evid. 404;
Utah R. Evid. 701;
Utah R. Evid. 702.

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, all references to the Utah Code are to LexisNexis, Lexis Advance through the 2018 Second Special Session.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts.

David Bryce Jones (“Bryce”) and his father David Jones (“David”) had a close relationship. R802. Bryce is an only child and is devoted to his father. R787-88, R802, 806. Bryce “loved his dad. He wanted to make him proud.” R787, 788.

Bryce wanted to make sure David was well cared for. R785. Although David had eight siblings, he was not very close to them, seeing them only once a year or so at family gatherings. R599, 803. David had lost two wives to dementia. R802-803. After David second wife died, Bryce became his main companion. R802-803.

Bryce lived in Salt Lake City and would visit his father who lived in St. George every month. R609, 804. The two also travelled together often. R802-803. Over the years, David freely gave money to Bryce and partnered with his son in several businesses. R804, R811. David “was always looking for the big score.” R811.

In 2010, David—who was then 86-years-old and worried that he may develop dementia—executed a general durable power of attorney that named Bryce as his agent. R806; State’s Ex. 24. Around that time, David and Bryce decided open a restaurant together. R806. The two formed an LLC and they eventually found a location in Sugarhouse for a neighborhood pub and restaurant they called “Brehaha.” R806. Although David had started to show early signs

of dementia sometime in 2011, he was still living independently in St. George. R808. He would travel to Salt Lake to check on the progress in getting the restaurant going. R769, R784-85, 809. He went shopping, attended biweekly temple sessions, and cooked and cleaned for himself. R813. In addition to investing in the business, David gave Bryce money for his living expenses so that Bryce could dedicate all his time to the restaurant. R811.

For much of 2013, Bryce was working full-time trying to get Brewhaha open and operational. R810-811. David would visit to check on the progress. R769, 809. Mike Davis spoke with David “on numerous occasions” in 2013 while helping to remodel the restaurant, and also a couple times at Bryce’s house when he had dinner there. R768-69. David would visit the construction site and would inquire about work being done.² R769-70, 774-75. Mr. Davis testified that David was “coherent and lucid.” R770. Robert Eagle also met David five to ten times while helping remodel the restaurant. R777-78. David was “supportive” of the project and seemed “just fine” cognitively. R778. John Ross, an investor in Brewhaha, spoke with David occasionally in fall 2013. R756-57. Mr. Ross testified that David seemed coherent and interested in the restaurant. R756-57. Tiffany Holcomb, Bryce’s friend who helped at Brewhaha before and after it opened, saw David at the restaurant “[a]bout half a dozen times,” including once

² Although Mr. Davis’ testimony did not provide an exact time frame he appeared to be referring to David visiting the site in 2013, both before and after he moved to Salt Lake. *See* R769-70, 774-75, 809.

before he moved up from St. George. R784-85. She also visited David at Highland Cove. R784.

In late September 2013, after driving home from a vacation, David became severely dehydrated and disoriented. R812. David was checked into the emergency room and Bryce immediately went to see him. R812. After that incident, David was no longer able to live independently. R813. Bryce made arrangements for David to move to Highland Cove, an assisted living facility in Salt Lake County. R813. He was checked in at “level A,” the least amount of care for residents, which included medication management, and other living assistance as needed. R525-26. After moving to Highland Cove, David remained very interested in Brewhaha, and Bryce would take him on visits to the site. R769-70, 774-75, 756-57, 784-85, 809, 815-816.

Brewhaha opened in mid-December, 2013, but although the DABC had previously told Bryce that the restaurant would receive a liquor license on Tuesday, December 16, 2013, the board instead voted to postpone the approval for three months. R817. The partners knew that without a liquor license, the restaurant would almost certainly fail and had to decide whether to move forward. R817-818. In a final effort to salvage the business, Bryce spoke with Cody Tower, Highland Cove’s general manager, who agreed to allow David to

defer his approximately \$3,000.00 monthly payments.³ R818. But in March, the liquor license was again denied. R819. During this time, Bryce updated Mr. Tower on the business and finances every month. R546, 825. Bryce spoke with Mr. Tower on May 1, 2014 “per schedule.” R820. On May 23, 2014, Highland Cove sent Bryce an eviction notice. R521, 544, 820; State’s Ex. 4.

Bryce was surprised because of his arrangement with Mr. Tower. R820-21. He asked if starting to make payments would cancel the eviction, and was told “yes.” R820-21. Bryce contacted Mr. Tower and made a \$3,000 payment. R521, 820-21; State’s Ex. 3. He also looked into other arrangements in case his father needed to be moved, which included daily care by certified nurse assistants. R786, 823. However, when Bryce told Mr. Tower that he could move David out, Mr. Tower said there would be no need to do that because Highland Cove work with him on the arrearages. R824.

In July 2014, the partners moved Brewhaha to a new location and changed the name to Gusto. R822. However, Bryce was ultimately unable to save the business or his father’s investment; Gusto closed in early 2015. R826. Before then, Bryce had started to make regular payments. R826.

Bryce’s actions were based on his understanding that his father wanted the business to succeed and that Highland Cove was willing to work with him on the

³ Mr. Tower testified that although he recalled speaking to Bryce about the bills and the business, he did not recall any agreement to defer payments. R541-42, 546, 553.

arrearages. R819, 826. It was also based on his understanding that David had authorized him, in the power of attorney, to manage his finances, and that David approved of his actions. R828, 844; State's Ex. 24.

A public guardian was appointed in October 2014. R567. Bryce provided the guardian with David's financial information. R570. Bryce unsuccessfully tried to get the guardian to pay certain bills and the guardian refused. R571-72, 575-76, 828. David told Bryce that he wanted him to remain in control. R828. For that reason, Bryce attempted to regain control of David's finances to ensure his bills were paid. R828. The State presented no evidence that David's standard of living actually suffered. David's bills were brought current and he continued to live at Highland Cove. R969. B

B. Summary of Proceedings.

On December 5, 2015, David was charged with two counts of abuse, neglect, or exploitation of a vulnerable adult, and two counts of unlawful dealing of property by a fiduciary, all second degree felonies from October 31, 2013—the date David checked into Highland Cove—to October 31, 2014. R1-5. The information was amended to one count of abuse, neglect, or exploitation of a vulnerable adult, and one count of unlawful dealing of property by a fiduciary, both second degree felonies from October 31, 2013 to February 1, 2015. R89-93, R135-37, 163-64.

Motion to Dismiss. Before trial, trial counsel moved to have the charge dismissed on the basis that Section 76-5-111(4)(a)(iii) was unconstitutionally vague. R174-184. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-111(4)(a)(iii) (“A person commits the offense of exploitation of a vulnerable adult when the person: *unjustly or improperly* uses or manages the resources of a vulnerable adult for the profit or advantage of someone other than the vulnerable adult.”). Trial counsel argued that, like a similar Florida law declared unconstitutional, Utah’s use of the words “unjustly or improperly” to describe prohibited conduct was too vague to give defendants notice. R175-83; R304-311. The trial court deferred ruling on that motion until after trial. R324; R950-960. After trial, the State argued that Bryce could not show the statute was unconstitutionally vague as applied to him. R282-300. The trial court ruled that the statute was constitutional “under the facts and circumstances of this case” as applied to Bryce and facially. R959.

Expert Testimony. The State provided notice of just one expert witness—Perrine Anderson, a nurse practitioner, who the State expected to testify to David’s treatment plan and mental health. R152-56. Two of the State’s lay witnesses—Kimberly Mack and Cory Tower—also provided expert testimony to that effect at trial. R152-56. Mr. Tower’s testimony came after the trial court instructed him that he could only testify as to his personal knowledge. R534. Trial counsel objected to Mr. Tower’s opinion testimony but withdrew that objection based on his psychology degree. R538-39. No objection was raised to

Ms. Mack's opinion testimony as to David's mental capacity, including on dates on which she did not observe him, which was based on her training and experience. R668, 678-79, 682-83.

404(b) Evidence. The State did not provide Bryce notice of any 404(b) evidence. R41. Although the probable cause statement and preliminary hearing did not mention it, the State planned to introduce evidence that Bryce spent \$20,000 on his father's credit card in fall 2014 and other evidence. R374. Before trial, counsel argued that the information alleged "only the non-payment of money to the assisted living home" and other evidence of where Bryce used the money should be excluded because the State failed to provide the requisite Rule 404(b) notice. R365-66. The State argued that none of the evidence related to the charged conduct from October 31, 2013 to February 1, 2015 was 404(b) evidence. R169-70, R367. The trial court ruled that the State would be limited to evidence within the scope of discovery and the amended information:

"Anything that was not turned over in discovery is not going to be admissible.... If it's relevant to what's charged in the information, then it's admissible. If it is ... evidence of other bad acts outside the scope of what's charged in the information, then I will hear an argument that it's not admissible because you didn't give the 404(b) notice that you were required to do because the defense asked for it and they were entitled to it."

R375 (emphasis added). During trial, the State introduced two key pieces of evidence of Bryce's conduct that feel outside the scope of what was charged in the information.

First, the State introduced evidence from an eviction proceeding in which Bryce asserted that David lacked capacity to sign a lease in March 2013—roughly six months before the charged conduct occurred. R735-38; State’s Ex. 23. Bryce and David both signed the lease for the building where Brewhaha would be located. State’s Ex. 23. To protect David from the eviction proceeding, Bryce took David’s name off of the LLC, and asserted that David was not a proper defendant because he lacked capacity to sign the lease. R735-38, 807-08. Although David’s signature was required on the lease, he was not an owner of the LLC that was formed to rent the building. R735-38, 838.

The State used this evidence of a prior act to assert in opening and closing arguments that Bryce was dishonest: “The judge has instructed you. If he lies on one occasion ... whether he’s competent or incompetent six months later, you can disregard all of his testimony.” R877; R501-502. The State also used the lease to argue that Bryce knew he was not acting in David’s best interest: “Was he really looking out for his dad’s interest when he had his dad sign the lease and was he competent? Having his father sign the Brewhaha lease, which is described as a horrible lease.” R877-879.

Next, trial counsel stipulated to the State’s introduction of unauthenticated hearsay evidence of a ledger sheet titled “Loans to David Bryce Jones” purportedly denoting loans made from 1998 to 2000 but no payments made on

them. R685-86; State's Ex. 20. There was no limiting instruction given. R228-246.

C. Disposition.

Mr. Jones was tried by a jury on June 27 and June 28, 2017. He was convicted of abuse, exploitation, or neglect of a vulnerable adult and of unlawful dealing of property by a fiduciary, both second degree felonies. R252-253, R265. He was sentenced on September 14, 2018. R324-26. He timely appealed. R328.⁴

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel. Trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective in failing to object to improper expert opinion testimony by lay witness, 404(b) evidence that was introduced despite the trial court's pretrial ruling, and in stipulating to a jury instruction that lowered the State's burden of proof. Individually, or collectively, these objectively unreasonable actions by trial counsel prejudiced Bryce by allowing the State to unfairly bolster its case with evidence that played up David's incapacity, while strongly suggesting that Bryce was dishonest and had a propensity to take out loans without paying them back. It also allowed the State to lessen its burden of proof from knowing to reckless on the element of Bryce's awareness of the purported substantial risk of loss.

⁴ The verdict form, sentencing minutes, and notice of appeal are reproduced in Addendum B.

Unconstitutionally Vague Statute. The trial court erred in its ruling that the exploitation of a vulnerable adult statute is not unconstitutionally vague on its face or as applied to Bryce. The statute uses the vague terms “improper” and “unjust” to define when it is illegal to use a vulnerable adult’s resources for someone other than a vulnerable adult. Because of the subjective meaning of those terms, the statute provides virtually no notice of what conduct might be barred. It also did not fairly apprise Bryce of what conduct of his the State considered to be unjust or improper.

Insufficient Evidence. Bryce also believes the evidence was insufficient to convict him because he did not know that he breached his duty to David or otherwise managed his resources unjustly or improperly, or that he knew of a substantial risk of loss.

Merger. Bryce’s two convictions should merge because he was convicted of two second degree felonies for just one crime. The only evidence presented to the jury supported just one conviction and the State did not argue that there were any independent elements for either crime.

ARGUMENT

I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE

“The sixth amendment to the United States Constitution” guarantees the accused “the right to effective assistance of counsel.” *State v. Templin*, 805 P.2d

182, 186 (Utah 1990) (quoting *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759, 771 n. 14 (1970) (additional citation omitted)). A defendant's right to effective assistance is denied when counsel's performance falls "below an objective standard of reasonableness" and there is "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 694 (1984). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome" when considering the "totality of the evidence [and] taking into account such factors as whether the errors affect the entire evidentiary picture or have an isolated effect and how strongly the verdict is supported by the record." *Id.* at 694-96. It does not require a defendant to show that counsel's deficient representation "more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693-94. Rather, the standard is met if counsel's ineffective assistance can render the proceeding "unreliable, and hence the proceeding itself unfair." *Id.* at 694.

"An error is prejudicial if it tends to mislead the jury to the prejudice of the complaining party or insufficiently or erroneously advise[s] the jury on the law." *State v. O'Bannon*, 2012 UT App 71, ¶ 41, 274 P.3d 992 (quoting *State v. Penn*, 2004 UT App 212, ¶ 28, 94 P.3d 308). "A court must 'consider the totality of the evidence before the judge or jury' and then 'ask if the defendant has met the burden of showing that the decision reached would reasonably likely have

been different absent the errors.’” *State v. Garcia*, 2017 UT 53, ¶ 42 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96).

Bryce received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial and was prejudiced as a result. His trial counsel stipulated to erroneous jury instructions, failed to object to the admission of other acts evidence despite a pre-trial ruling that it would be excluded, and did not object to two expert testimony by two State lay witnesses.

A. It was ineffective assistance of counsel and plain error to not object to the expert testimony of Kimberly Mack and Cody Tower.

A lay witness may only give an opinion if it is “rationally based on the witness's perception;” “helpful to clearly understanding the witness’s testimony or to determining a fact in issue;” and “not based on scientific, technical, other specialized knowledge within the scope of Rule 702.” Utah R. Evid. 701. It is well-settled that if “testimony, ‘opinion or otherwise,’ is based on ‘scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge,’ it is within the scope of rule 702 of the Utah Rules of Evidence and may not be admitted as lay fact testimony.” *State v. Rothlisberger*, 2006 UT 49, ¶ 20, 147 P.3d 1176 (quoting Utah R. Evid. 702); accord *Ladd v. Bowers Trucking, Inc.*, 2011 UT App 355, ¶ 13, 264 P.3d 752 (“Lay witnesses can testify only to matters of which they have personal knowledge.”). The State must give defendant notice of expert testimony. See Utah Code Ann § 77-17-13(1). Failure to do so, entitles the defendant to a

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