Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2019

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. David Bryce Jones, Defendant/ **Appellant : Brief of Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The vagueness doctrine "is an outgrowth . . . of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment." *United States v. Williams*, 553 U.S. 285, 304 (2008). Some vagueness is inherent in language — "[c]ondemned to the use of words, we can never expect mathematical certainty from our language." *Grayned v. City of Rockford*, 408 U.S. 104, 110 (1972). So the Constitution "does not require impossible standards" and the elimination of any possible vagueness. *United States v. Petrillo*, 332 U.S. 1, 8 (1947). A statute is only unconstitutionally vague because it either "fails to provide people of ordinary intelligence a reasonable

opportunity to understand what conduct it prohibits," or "it authorizes or even encourages arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." *Hill v. Colorado*, 530 U.S. 703, 732 (2000); *see also City of Chicago v. Morales*, 527 U.S. 41, 52 (1999) *State v. Green*, 2004 UT 76, ¶43, 99 P.3d 820.

It is well-established that a defendant "who engages in some conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others." *Village of Hoffman Estates*, 455 U.S. at 495. So a court should "examine the [defendant's] conduct before analyzing other hypothetical applications of the law." *Id.* If the defendant's conduct is clearly prohibited, then he lacks standing to challenge the statute based on another's hypothetical conduct. *State v. Ansari*, 2004 UT App 326, ¶44, 100 P.3d 231; *State v. Jones*, 2018 UT App 110, ¶16, 427 P.3d 538.

Here, Jones lacks standing because his conduct is clearly prohibited. Jones, acting intentionally or knowingly (R237, 253), took his 90-year-old, demented father's retirement income (whom Jones admitted was "incompetent" at this point) —including \$900/month from his father's long-term care policy—to pay for Jones's living expenses and his two failed restaurants, while refusing to pay for his father's rent, care, prescriptions, or personal needs such as a haircut or bed pads. Any person of ordinary intelligence, "would have had to have known that wherever the precise

boundary between [just] and [unjust use of his father's resources] might lie," his conduct clearly fell on the side of unjust and improper. *State v. Tulley*, 2018 UT 35, ¶69, 428 P.3d 1005.¹¹

Jones ignores his conduct. He uses nearly all his vagueness argument (10 of 11 paragraphs) to explore the hypothetical conduct of others or decisions from other jurisdictions. Aplt.Brf.38–45. In his final, two-sentence paragraph, he concludes—with no analysis—that the exploitation statute is vague as applied to him because "he was not put on notice as to any lay activity what [sic] conduct constituted improper or unjust management of [his father's] resources." Aplt.Brf.44–45. But an as-applied challenge is not concerned with what *general* conduct is unjust or improper, it is about whether Jones's *specific* conduct was. Here, by any definition, Jones's conduct

¹¹ Not only that, but Jones's conduct clearly violated other more specific provisions of the exploitation statute that Jones does not assail as vague (although he was not charged under these variations). For example, under subsection 4(a)(ii) Jones was guilty of second-degree felony exploitation if, acting intentionally or knowingly, he "[knew] or should know[n] that the vulnerable adult lack[ed] capacity to consent, and obtain[ed] or use[d] . . . the vulnerable adult's funds, assets, or property with intent to temporarily or permanently deprive the vulnerable adult of the use, benefit, or possession of his property, for the benefit of someone other than the vulnerable adult." Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-111(4)(ii). Jones said his father was incompetent well before he started taking his money—so Jones knew or should have known his father lacked capacity to consent to his use of all his father's resources for Jones's own personal gain.

was unjust and improper. *Tulley*, 2018 UT 35, ¶69. And because it is, Jones has no standing to mount a facial challenge to the exploitation statute. *Ansari*, 2004 UT App 326, ¶44; *see Jones*, 2018 UT App 110, ¶17.

In any event, persons of ordinary intelligence are on notice of what is "unjust" or "improper" when they read the exploitation statute as a whole. When interpreting a statute, this Court's objective is "to give effect to the intent of the legislature in light of the purpose the act was meant to achieve." *Gutierrez v. Medley*, 972 P.2d 913, 915 (Utah 1998). In discerning that intent, the Court looks first to the statute's plain language — with a presumption that "the legislature chose its words carefully, using each term advisedly" and "according to its ordinary meaning." *State v. LeBeau*, 2014 UT 39, ¶26, 337 P.3d 254. "The plain language of a statute is to be read as a whole, and its provisions interpreted in harmony with other provisions in the same statute or with other statutes under the same or related chapters." *State v. MacGuire*, 2004 UT 4, ¶15, 84 P.3d 1171, 1175 (Utah 2004) (cleaned up).

Here, the terms "unjust" and "improper" do not appear in isolation. The exploitation statute lists five variations of the crime. The first prohibits employing deception or intimidation to obtain or use a vulnerable adult's resources for someone other than the vulnerable adult. Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-111(4)(i). The second makes it a crime to use a vulnerable adult's resources

for someone other than the vulnerable adult when the vulnerable adult lacks the capacity to consent. Id. § 76-5-111(4)(ii). The third—the subsection under which Jones was charged—makes it a crime to "unjustly" or "improperly" use a vulnerable adult's resources for the profit of someone other than the vulnerable adult. Id. § 76-5-111(4)(iii). The fourth makes it a crime for a power of attorney or guardian to "unjustly" or "improperly" use the vulnerable adult's resources for the profit of someone other than the vulnerable adult. Id. § 76-5-111(4)(iv). And the fifth makes it a crime to "involve a vulnerable adult who lacks the capacity to consent in the facilitation" of a crime. Id. § 76-5-111(4)(v).

Read as a whole, the legislature clearly sought to prohibit a particular type of conduct: use of a vulnerable adult's resources, without proper consent or authorization, for the profit of someone other than the vulnerable adult. *Id.* § 76-5-111(4). So the terms "unjust" and "improper," in context, relate to whether the vulnerable adult consented or authorized the use of his resources or if the defendant used deceit, intimidation, undue influence, persuasion, or other means to obtain it.

Jones clearly understood this. His argument below was that his actions were not unjust or improper because his father consented to them and did so when he was still capable of consent. That is, he knew that if his father did

not consent, or lacked capacity to do so, his actions were unjust or improper.

And his consent defense shows that he clearly knew what he needed to address to avoid a conviction.

The plain meaning of the terms "unjust" and "improper" are also not difficult for ordinary people to understand or apply. "Unjust" simply means, "Contrary to justice, not fair or reasonable." *Unjust*, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). Exploitation itself is defined is defined in reference to "unjust" actions. *Exploitation*, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) (defining "exploitation" as "taking *unjust* advantage of another for one's own benefit or selfish ends" (emphasis added)). And "Improper" means, "Incorrect, unsuitable or irregular; Fraudulent or otherwise wrongful." *Improper*, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

No ordinary person would think it unjust or improper (that is, unfair, unreasonable, fraudulent, or wrongful) for a child to ask a vulnerable parent for help paying college tuition or buying a home. Aplt.Brf.41. But an ordinary person would find it unjust or improper, (that is, unfair, unreasonable, fraudulent, or wrongful) for a child to ask, knowing the vulnerable parent lacked capacity to consent, or using intimidation or deceit to obtain their consent, or persuading, pushing, manipulating, or using other means to take

the money or obtain the "consent." This is not nearly as complicated as Jones tries to make it.

Moreover, the statute is not one of strict liability, as Jones suggests. Aplt.Brf.40 (arguing that the statute "could lead to charges against virtually anyone who uses a vulnerable adult's resources for the use of anyone other than the vulnerable adult."). It requires Jones, or any other defendant, to act intentionally or knowingly for felony exploitation. That is, Jones had to at least know that his father was a vulnerable adult. He had to at least know that his actions were unjust or improper. And he had to know that he was using his father's resources for his own profit. It wasn't enough that he acted negligently or recklessly. 12 As the United States' Supreme Court, and Utah's supreme court, note, "scienter requirements" like the ones here, "alleviate vagueness concerns." Gonzales v. Carhart, 550 U.S. 124, 149 (2007); see Due South, Inc. v. Dep't of Alcoholic Bev. Control, 2008 UT 71, ¶46, 197 P.3d 82; State v. Sailer, 684 A.2d 1247, 1249 (Sup. Ct. Del. 1995).

None of Jones's out-of-state cases are persuasive or even helpful. While they use similar words (e.g., "illegal," "improper," and "unjust") each is part

¹² If he had acted with criminal negligence or recklessness, he would have been guilty of a class B or A (respectively) misdemeanor. Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-111(4)(b)(iii)–(iv).

of a larger statute with significant differences. Aplt.Brf.41–43. As an example, the Mississippi statute Jones references made "the illegal or **improper use** of a vulnerable person or his resources for another's profit or advantage, **with or without the consent of the vulnerable adult**" a crime. *Decker v. State*, 66 So.2d 654, 658 (Miss. 2011) (emphasis in original). So any use, even with consent, could be improper. *Id.* It was the "with or without the consent" language as much as the "improper use" that troubled the Mississippi supreme court. *Id.* Utah does not contain the "with or without consent language" or anything like it. Not only that, but Utah's statute contains multiple variations of the crime and is part of a much broader exploitation statute.

The same problems exist with Jones's Florida case, *Cuda v. State*. There, the statute made it a crime to "improper[ly] or illegal[ly] use or manage[] the funds, assets, property, power of attorney, or guardianship of [an] aged person or disabled adult for profit." 639 So.2d 22, 23 n.1. Again, unlike Utah's, there were no variations or descriptions of the type of prohibited acts. *Id.* And the court also failed to review Cuda's actions and whether the statute, as applied to Cuda, was vague. Something this Court has made clear must occur first. *See supra*.

And Jones's out-of-court cases are not unanimous. *State v. Sailer*, for example, found a statute similar to Utah's was not unconstitutionally vague. 684 A.2d 1247 (Del. 1994). There, the statute defined exploitation as the "illegal or improper use or abuse of an infirm person, his resources or his rights, by another person, whether for profit or other advantage." *Id.* at 1249 n.1. Delaware held that this statute was not vague because, like Utah's, the legislature's intent, the language of the statute, the mental-state requirement, and the plain meaning of the terms "illegal" and "improper" "adequately notified" defendants of what actions were unlawful. *Id.*

* * * *

In sum, Jones lacks standing to raise a vagueness claim. But the statute is not vague because it clearly prohibits Jones from taking all his 90-year-old, demented, incompetent father's retirement income (roughly \$6,500 a month, including \$900/month from his father's long-term care insurance policy)to pay for Jones's personal living expenses and his two failed restaurants, while refusing to pay for his father's rent, care, prescriptions, or basic personal needs.

III.

There is sufficient evidence of Jones's intent.

Jones says that the trial court erred when it denied his directed verdict motion. Aplt.Brf.45–47. According to him, there was insufficient evidence

that he knew he had "violated his fiduciary duty and that the breach involved a substantial risk of loss," as required by his unlawful dealing conviction. *Id.* at 46. And, he says, there was insufficient evidence that he "unjustly or improperly used or managed" his father's resources to his own advantage, as required by his exploitation conviction. *Id.*

This claim fails for a few reasons. First, it is unpreserved, and Jones fails to adequately argue that a preservation exception applies. So this Court should decline to review it. Second, even if preserved, there is more than enough evidence to support both convictions.

A. This issue is unpreserved.

An issue is preserved if it is "presented to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue." 438 Main St. v. Easy Heat, Inc., 2004 UT 72, ¶51, 99 P.3d 801 (cleaned up). This requires the issue to be both timely and specifically raised, with supporting evidence or relevant legal authority. Id.; see also Utah R. Crim. P. 12(a) ("A motion shall state succinctly and with particularity the grounds upon which it is made and the relief sought.").

That didn't happen here. Jones claims that his generic directed verdict motion preserved the issue. Aplt.Brf.3 (citing R753). At the close of the State's case, counsel asked for a "directed verdict for insufficiency of the evidence."

R753. When asked if he "want[ed] to make an argument," counsel declined, and the court summarily denied the motion. *Id.* That was all.

"[A] generic motion for a directed verdict," like Jones's, can preserve a specific ground for appeal only when "'the specific ground for an objection is clear from its context.'" *State v. Isom*, 2015 UT App 160, ¶22, 354 P.3d 791 (quoting *State v. Gonzalez*, 2015 UT 10, ¶26, 345 P.3d 1168); *see State v. Doyle*, 2018 UT App 239, --- P.3d ---. For example, in *Gonzalez*, it was clear that Gonzalez's generic directed verdict motion was based on the State's alleged failure to disprove self defense because that was Gonzalez's "sole defense" to the murder charge. 2015 UT 10, ¶26. And in *Doyle* it was clear that Doyle's directed verdict motion that the state had the burden to prove self defense and that it had to "present more than it had" was enough to preserve an argument that the self-defense evidence was inconclusive and speculative. 2018 UT App 239, ¶16.

Unlike *Gonzalez* or *Doyle*, there is no one clear ground for Jones's motion. Jones had two, separate charges: exploitation of a vulnerable adult and unlawful dealing of property by a fiduciary.¹³ Both have several elements

Gonzalez had two charges too, murder and obstruction of justice. 2015 UT 10, \P 26. But Gonzalez's "obstruction-of-justice charge turned on his challenge to the murder charge." *Id.* So, unlike here, the obstruction charge depended on the murder charge. *Id.*

that Jones disputed. For example, on his exploitation charge, Jones disputed that he acted with intent *and* that he unjustly or improperly used his father's resources. On his unlawful-dealing charge, he disputed that he knowingly violated a duty to his father *and* that his actions involved a substantial risk of loss to his father. His perfunctory motion failed to identify which of these elements he alleges the State did not prove and fails to provide any supportive reasoning or authority. *State v. Worwood*, 2007 UT 47, ¶16, 164 P.3d 397; *State v. Bosquez*, 2012 UT App 89, ¶7, 275 P.3d 1032.¹⁴

The purpose of the preservation requirement is to put the "trial judge on notice of the asserted error and allow[] for [timely] correction." 438 Main Street, 2004 UT 72, ¶51. Jones's motion did not call the judge's attention to the problem he raises here: a lack of evidence of intent. So the trial court never had a chance to address this issue. This Court should not address it either.

Jones says, in a footnote, that this Court may nevertheless review this claim for plain error or ineffective assistance of counsel. Aplt.Brf.46 n.18. But

¹⁴ And the seriousness of his exploitation charge varies based on his mental state. If it was done intentionally or knowingly, it is a second-degree felony. Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-110(4)(b) (West 2018). If done recklessly, it is a class A misdemeanor. *Id.* Jones advocated that an instruction on the lesser, class-A offense be given to the jury. Yet his directed verdict motion fails to state whether he believes the State failed to prove an intentional or knowing mental state, a reckless mental state, or any mental state.

while an unpreserved claim can be reviewed for plain error or ineffective assistance, it is not enough to merely utter those words in a footnote without providing any analysis or application of these doctrines to his specific facts. *See State v. Padilla*, 2018 UT App 108, ¶19, --- P.3d ---.

B. Jones's claim is meritless.

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